

### Court Files as Data in Sociological Family Research: Methodology and Methods for a Little-Tapped Kind of Data Material

Viktoria Parisot, Marlies Zuccato-Doutlik & Ulrike Zartler

#### Key words:

nonreactive data; qualitative file analysis; document analysis; family sociology; court files Abstract: In methodical terms, court files have barely been developed as data material for qualitative social research. In the present paper, we explore the methodology and methods associated with court files as data employed in sociological family research. Based on a survey of 70 divorce and guardianship files from the years 1976 to 2019, we discuss three methodological key areas in research with family court files: 1. We examine epistemological aspects from the perspective of a praxeological sociology of the family; 2. we analyze gatekeeping processes and other aspects of research practice with regard to field access and data collection; and 3. we review the unit of analysis of court files. Proceeding from this discussion, we propose a new methodical approach for the qualitative analysis of records in sociological family research: the multiple case study from a praxeological discourse-analytical perspective, by means of which court files can be explored as an intersection between law and the family. In analytical terms, we ask by, with and for whom family court files are produced. The proposed methodical approach makes it possible to consider family court files as both produced by and themselves producing a process of undoing family. We finally advocate a pragmatically oriented methodological approach. The diversity of qualitative methodology can thus become a seminal basis for the further development of court files as a data source.

#### **Table of Contents**

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Qualitative File Analysis: Methodical and Methodological Approaches
- 3. Methodical Approach
- 4. Assessing Court Files as Data in the Sociology of the Family: Key Methodological Aspects
  - 4.1 Aspects of epistemology: The nature of the data
  - 4.2 Aspects of research practice: Data availability
  - 4.3 Aspects of the unit of analysis: Legal and sociological perspectives on cases
- 5. The Method of the Multiple Case Study: A Praxeological Discourse-Analytical Perspective
- 6. Conclusions

**References** 

Authors

**Citation** 

# 1. Introduction

Process-produced data sources are frequently put to use in such disciplines as historical and organizational research, legal studies, and criminology (LEUSCHNER & HÜNEKE, 2016; TAEGER, 2002; WERNER, 2020). By contrast, these data sources have so far been applied relatively rarely in qualitative sociological research. In particular, the analysis of court and administrative files—documents that are characterized by the form of files and are embedded in institutional and hierarchical structures (NOETZEL, KRUMM & WESTLE, 2018)—offers potentials that have been seldom employed in sociology (e.g., DAHLVIK, 2018; FRIEDRICH & FRANZHELD, 2020; MAZZURANA, 2018; OWENS & FORD, 2019; POHN-WEIDINGER, 2017; SCHEFFER, 2007, 2010; SKARPELIS, 2020; TOLASCH, 2016; WOLFF, 2011). [1]

Methodical considerations of record analysis, however, remain largely scarce even in such disciplines as criminology, in which such documents are a frequently used data source (LEUSCHNER & HÜNEKE, 2016). The authors of Germanlanguage handbooks dealing with qualitative methods in sociology and the social sciences have approached file processing under the headings of Aktenanalyse [record analysis] or Dokumentenanalyse [document analysis] (LAMNEK & KRELL, 2016; MAYRING, 2016; NOETZEL et al., 2018), described as a singular method with a focus on content analysis (LEHMANN & KLUG, 2019). For example, it has been recommended that the analysis of documents may prove especially rewarding in cases in which "data from primary collections are lacking, or such data are to be complemented for reasons of epistemological interest, or other accesses to the field are impeded" (SALHEISER, 2019, p.1121).<sup>1</sup> Other researchers more clearly emphasized the access to data than a method, such as CLOATRE and COWAN (2019) and WOLFF (2010) who reflected on documents and files, as well as the thorough analysis of artifacts authored by LUEGER und FROSCHAUER (2018). These publications have in common that the methodical approach is described as based on the material and its properties, as processproduced, and as distinct from the collection of primary data. [2]

A dominance of language-related data, such as those emerging from interviews, has become apparent in the tradition of qualitative social research (WOLFF, 2010), which also affects the discussion of methods and theory. For this reason, a methodical treatise on *interview analysis* is barely conceivable. In analyses of records and documents, differences in analytical emphases correspondingly result from divergent theoretical approaches. The methodical consequences of such emphases may well be more differentiated than would be considered in the sense of general *record* or *document analyses*. [3]

While court file analyses have gained sociological attention especially as analyses of process-produced data, collecting such data continues to be a littleacknowledged part of methodological and methodical procedures. The approach in which process-produced data are generated, selected and collected requires

<sup>1</sup> All translations from non-English texts are ours.

specific reflection, as such an approach calls for a variety of interventions into the data material, as shown in the following. LUEGER and FROSCHAUER (2018) stated that artifacts have so far been barely considered in sociological theory building and that researchers have given less attention to their inherent logic (see also LUEGER, 2010). [4]

Proceeding from the research requirements described above, we scrutinize the key issues emerging from the elicitation and analysis of court files as related to methodology and methods. In the study underlying this work, we addressed the issue as to how familial connections are produced and negotiated in court and what forms of *undoing family* (JURCZYK, 2020a) are constituted in family law procedures. We therefore explicitly refer to family court files in our methodological considerations (Section 4). In the following, we first present studies based on file analyses as well as the theoretical and methodical approaches involved (Section 2) and describe the methodology (Section 3). We then present the key results of our research: First, we explore crucial methodological aspects with regard to epistemology, as well as the availability and unit of analysis of divorce and guardianship files<sup>2</sup> in an attempt to render them fruitful for further research. Second, we present a methodical approach developed in the framework of our study (Section 5): We specifically addressed theoretical premises which we translated methodically into the *multiple case study from a praxeological discourse-analytical perspective*. The key questions in our analytical framework are by, with and for whom family court files are produced. This novel approach is applied with respect to divorce files and a catalog of concrete questions is proposed as applied to the data material. The questions are tailored to analyze family and legal practices, as well as the discourses embedded therein, and can be transferred to the analysis of files from various other (legal) contexts. We finally advocate a pragmatically oriented methodological approach to court files (Section 6). [5]

# 2. Qualitative File Analysis: Methodical and Methodological Approaches

As process-produced data, files are a solid and self-evident data source in such disciplines as historical research and criminology (TAEGER, 2002). In the discussion surrounding sociological methods, they are still seen less as a distinct type of data, accompanied by a corresponding variation of methods, than as more or less exotic material processed as a supplement to other data sources (see HILDENBRAND, 2005 for details on methods in family research). [6]

As to the social sciences, the reduction of files as a source of the representation of social reality—in our case, family life—has frequently been argued not to be useful. This is because written discourse is to be primarily interpreted as the participants' argumentation in a procedure, which is instrumentalized by and for a given proceeding and which is organized by the legal context. The background of this interpretation was the important epistemological reflection as to the extent to

<sup>2</sup> The guardianship file comprises the entire court record, including issues of custody, contact, and alimony payment.

which segments of social reality are found in files (SKARPELIS, 2020; WOLFF, 2010). Before addressing this issue, our question is: What are the gains of incorporating files as a data source into research? [7]

Court files represent decisions that have important social consequences. By analyzing family court files in sociological family research—and observing legislation as generated by "technologies of culture" (VISMANN, 2011, p.309), such as files—it becomes clear that we obtain insights into a reality intersubjectively created by individual, collective and institutional actors. This reality is central for the formation, preservation and further development of family models. As an innovative and so far rarely researched kind of data material in family sociology, court files and their detailed analyses can provide important insights into the negotiation of normative family concepts as well their social, institutional and historical prerequisites. [8]

Now, what are the possibilities of analyzing discourses and practices in court, which are reproduced in the files, of accounting for the distinctiveness of the data, and of utilizing their epistemic potentials? Even though methodical contributions to qualitative file analysis remain rare in the social sciences, we broadly build on available methodical arguments: In the following, we first explicate the methodical approaches and their theoretical premises as found in applied social science research. Second, we elucidate their methodical and theoretical characteristics in order to illustrate current qualitative approaches. [9]

With regard to the qualitative analysis of files, an ethnomethodological perspective was frequently resorted to in the past. Its tradition was considered to reflect theoretically substantiated document analysis (FLICK, 2005; WOLFF, 2010). Research mostly involving fieldwork and combining file analyses with participant observation and/or interviews came into being (DAHLVIK, 2014, 2016, 2018; POHN-WEIDINGER, 2017; SCHEFFER, 2001, 2007, 2010) with the access of institutional ethnography (CAMPBELL, 2016; SMITH, 2005) initially established in North America. The most important starting point for these analyses was how texts (from bureaucratic contexts) coordinate the everyday lives of subjects who are addressed and, as it were, are affected by these texts (DOLL & WALBY, 2019). In her empirical research, DAHLVIK (2014) elaborated the purely qualitative approach of process-oriented reconstructive file analysis as a derivative of *process-oriented file analysis*, in which elements of qualitative and quantitative content analysis are combined. In this reconstructive approach, DAHLVIK was methodically guided by artifact analysis (FROSCHAUER, 2009). She conceived the files both as artifacts and, following LATOUR (2008), as actants of a network (DAHLVIK 2018). In terms of methods, LUEGER and FROSCHAUER (2018) set concrete analytical levels for artifacts. While their approach is thus equally applicable to files, a text-analytical complement has proven useful in this connection (e.g., DAHLVIK, 2014, 2018). The approach to files as artifacts makes it feasible to conceive them in their materiality as a "black box" (CLOATRE & COWAN, 2019, p.437), around which new research questions can be formulated. In the sense of a materiality theory perspective, TAYLOR and FAIRCHILD (2020) developed the characteristics of a post-humanistic institutional ethnography, with which researchers can focus on a decentration of human actors. This served to unite two important methodological perspectives with regard to files as materiality. WOLFF (2011) also considered his research to be enriched by ethnographic findings (see also BÄR, 2000 and KOCH, PIÑEIRO & PASCHE, 2019 for organizational ethnographies), yet he still referred to a conversation-analytical procedure for text analysis (WOLFF & MÜLLER, 1995; WOLFF & SALOMON, 2019). As a decidedly methodical approach, SCHEFFER's "trans-sequential" analysis (2015, 2018) is a substantiated variant which allows legal proceedings and their "objects in the making" (SCHEFFER, 2015, p.227)—such as files—to be conceived in a praxeological framework. [10]

In particular, court files have so far been used as a primary data source in discourse-analytical investigations. Here, the analysis has built on the sociology of knowledge approach to discourse (SKAD) (KELLER, 2011a), with which the "typical contents" (MAZZURANA, 2018, p.85) of files is to be worked out. The focus is on the contentual structuring of discourse found in the files. The researchers also made power relationships visible with an analysis focused on the prerogative and content of interpretation (see also SHUY, 2015 for methods). SCHUTTER (2011) and TOLASCH (2016) complemented SKAD by amplifying their analyses with interpretive suggestions and techniques of legitimization in legal discourse (see also SCHWAB-TRAPP, 2006), as well as hermeneutical sequence analysis adapted from DREYFUß and RABINOW (1994 [1982]). FRIEDRICH and FRANZHELD (2020) carried out a reconstructive file analysis of records from a youth welfare office in the framework of reconstructive family and couple research (FUNCKE, 2020). Their work was based on the analysis of "detectable, objective data on family constellations" (FRIEDRICH & FRANZHELD, 2020, p.291) and a sequence analysis of protocols in the given files. In particular, their research emphasized the applicability of case logic to (family) research with files. [11]

Predominantly, these research investigations have in common that they were methodically based on the logic of case studies (see also NOETZEL et al., 2018 on document-analytical case studies from a political science perspective). In terms of theory, and depending on their analytical focus, they have been seen to oscillate between praxeological, discourse-analytical and hermeneutical approaches. Two decisive tendencies can be identified in this connection: 1. By means of ethnographic and/or praxeological approaches, researchers ask questions as to how files and the documents those files contain come about. 2. The researchers mostly work from a discourse-analytical perspective in investigations into interpretive patterns, which are more strongly focused on the contents of files. These two theoretical tendencies also guide our study. [12]

# 3. Methodical Approach

The methodological and methodical results described in the following are based on an interdisciplinary study *Doing Divorce: Scheidungsprozesse vom 18. Jahrhundert bis zur Gegenwart* [Doing Divorce: Divorce Proceedings From the 18th Century Until Today]. Together with historians and legal scholars, we, a team of sociologists, explored how divorces and their consequences have been and continue to be negotiated in court. Our focus was on the process of *undoing family* (JURCZYK, 2020a) in court: Based on divorce and guardianship files, we analyzed court hearings on marital and familial processes of living together and drifting apart in the framework of divorce proceedings, as well as subsequent acts of reorganizing family relationships. [13]

Based on the field access to, as well as selection, assessment and analysis of 45 Austrian divorce and 25 guardianship files dating back to the years 1976 to 2019, we report and reflect on the methodological results of our work with these particularly sensitive data. The files were selected from available volumes of the Familien- und erbrechtliche Entscheidungen [Family and inheritance law rulings] annual series covering precedent-setting decisions in Austrian family law since 1945 (e.g., GITSCHTHALER, 2020). The focus of sampling was on the years following the most substantial family law reforms since the mid-1970s in this country (and in Germany) (for details of the concrete approach and its rationale, see Sections 4.2 and 4.3). In our sampling, we were guided by the Grounded Theory principle of the minimum and maximum contrasting of cases in theoretical sampling (GLASER & STRAUSS, 1967). With theoretical sampling, we followed the strategy of selecting cases over the research process according to whether they support, expand and deepen the analytical results, or otherwise let the results seem inconsistent, rather than selecting the cases in the research planning phase (see also BREUER, MUCKEL & DIERIS, 2019). We documented the assessment of the 70 files with memos and research diaries. The approach developed in the study was theoretically inspired by available research and resulted from the ambition to develop a qualitative methodical approach to court files, which would serve to take both the generative context and contentual body of the data into account. [14]

The 70 court files finally gathered from 45 Austrian court archives comprise 50 to approx. 2,000 pages each. Due to its generative and development context, the data material is inevitably linked to specific processes within the legal system (e.g., sequences of courts<sup>3</sup>, file layouts, legal situations). Our research was done in Austria and thus in the German-language legal context. Due to the shared history of National Socialism in Austria and Germany, legislation pertaining to marriage, divorce and custody in these countries continues until today to be grounded on quite identical legal bases. Still, national-level reforms have since been implemented in major aspects, including the abrogation of the fault principle in German divorce cases (FLOßMANN, 2008). [15]

<sup>3</sup> Stages of appeal apply to the review of court rulings by next-higher authorities, e.g., first instance: district court, second instance: state court, third instance: Supreme Court.

In family research, most precisely, there has been a persistent call for intensified inter- and transdisciplinary research—both from a legal-research perspective (SCHEIWE, 2018; SCHWAB, 2016) and a sociological perspective (JURCZYK, 2020a; VASKOVICS & HUININK, 2016). In accord with the literature and the experience gained in our study, it has become clear that intensive methodical involvement is a key prerequisite of both work with little-researched data and interdisciplinary collaboration. [16]

In the following, we therefore illuminate the methodological aspects which we dealt with in assessing and processing the file data as the most important data source in our research. We then proceed to contribute to a clearer determination of qualitative file analysis: Theoretically following the methodical pathways to German-language qualitative file analysis, we develop a methodical access by means of a multiple case study of family court files based on a praxeological and discourse-analytical approach. [17]

# 4. Assessing Court Files as Data in the Sociology of the Family: Key Methodological Aspects

Collecting and processing court file data makes it possible to deal with three key areas in methodology: We discuss *epistemological aspects* with reference to the sociologically little-applied data material of court files (Section 4.1). Since the knowledge gain from court files has frequently been negotiated in the social science literature as compared to primary data, we address this distinction more precisely and examine it from a praxeological perspective on family court files. We then discuss the *availability* of court files as social science data, which includes assessment, sample selection and field access (Section 4.2). Building on these two considerations, we define a *unit of analysis* that is epistemologically adequate and available in terms of research practice (Section 4.3). [18]

### 4.1 Aspects of epistemology: The nature of the data

In the social science literature, the potential gain in knowledge from court files has mostly been compared to the gain in knowledge from primary data. For example, empirical researchers in law have tended to consider files to be complete data in the sense of an unabbreviated rendition of relevant proceedings and that those files also reflect such proceedings better than do interrogations (LEUSCHNER & HÜNEKE, 2016). In turn, the information content of such documents has been regarded more critically in social science research (HOFFMANN, 2018; SKARPELIS, 2020). Although potentially rich possibilities of knowledge have been seen by means of document analyses, they have always been considered as strongly linked to their generative context. Therefore, it has frequently been recommended to complement document analysis with interviews on document preparation (WOLFF 2010) or other data sources or to triangulate these tools (ACKEL-EISENACH & MÜLLER, 2012; BÄR, 2000). This also reflects the fact that interviews are still predominantly seen as the ideal way to generate data in the social sciences (SALHEISER, 2019). [19]

With regard to the knowledge gain from process-produced data such as court files, two strands of argument can currently be identified in the literature on social science methods: On the one hand, such data have often been considered as developing without researchers' interventions, and thus as largely free from reactivity, which was frequently interpreted to be advantageous (ACKEL-EISENACH & MÜLLER, 2012; SALHEISER, 2019). On the other hand, the data were argued to have been generated in a legal context and thus not with reference to the research question, but rather "as remnants of administrative action" (FLECK, 2017, p.331) with limited explanatory power. These lines of reasoning have in common that process-produced data and primary data are clearly distinguished. [20]

From a praxeological perspective, in which court files result from various practices, this distinction proves to be conditionally useful. As practices are "conceived [as a combination of] speech acts (sayings) [...], physical movements (doings) and a handling of things facilitated by an association between socialized bodies and material artifacts" (HILLEBRANDT, 2015, p.16), they are volatile data material. Assuming that past practices can only be assessed by the traces they leave, family court files critically represent the "nexuses of doings and sayings" (SCHATZKI, 2002, p.88) of familial and legal practices. Practices generated by various actors, and thus social realities, are what is described. Therefore, court files are "institutionalized traces" (WOLFF, 2010, p.503) of past processes of *undoing family*, which can be ascertained with these written practices. [21]

Involving concrete research practice as a performative act (SCHÄFER & DANIEL, 2015), it becomes even more explicit that the distinction between primary data, which are only generated with reference to a research question, and processproduced data makes little sense from a praxeological perspective: Court files can only become part of a social science sample by means of researchers' active sampling strategies. Since process-produced data, as traces of "doings and sayings" (SCHATZKI, 2002, p.88), are first to be actively qualified as data, they cannot come about fully independently from researchers. If a research process is open in terms of basic qualitative principles and guided by research questions (HOFFMANN-RIEM, 1980), it becomes clear that sampling requires clear confines and often adaptations within the research process. This is especially true for process-produced documents which would inherently be available in abundance. Court files contain a considerable number of documents, including instruments of law to initiate, intervene into and conclude proceedings (e.g., lawsuits, testimonies, expert opinions, parties' responses, sentences). The heterogeneity of the documents in court files shows the contained speaking positions to be classifiable in merely interpretive terms. Thus, their explanatory power as data material and those speaking positions cannot be evaluated without researchers' considerations. In this connection, it is important to take account of the inherent logics of the various fields, in which the experts, judges, lawyers, parties to the dispute and researchers from diverse disciplines are embedded. In order to make these actors describable in terms of epistemology, the data in our study was discussed and processed in interdisciplinary analytical meetings with lawyers, historians and sociologists. We argue that the aspect of interdisciplinarity is vital, as irritations may emerge from inherent disciplinary and professional logics, whereby apparent implicitness could be challenged. [22]

Finally, the limitations that need to be set in accessing the data substantially affect data and sample quality. They do not arise independently from researchers, as any limitation or expansion of the sample and any classification of a speaking position requires active intervention into the sample, i.e., into what is classified as data. Moreover, the kind of knowledge gain from court files as data depends on the form in which the files are available to social researchers. Preparing samples and accessing data are particularly strongly interlinked in the case of court files, as they depend on formal approvals of access to documents, on cooperativeness on the part of judicial officers, and on the destruction of files in court. [23]

In the present project, the file sample was prepared on the basis of proceedings recorded in the Familien- und erbrechtliche Entscheidungen collection, which serves to guide judges through future procedures. The recorded rulings are thus juridically preselected: They were found to be precedent-setting by the editors of the collection and are subject to a certain social desirability in the legal context. As our theoretical approach permitted us to consider family and law as an interlaced practice (see Section 5), this access offered the possibility to gain insight into the practices considered as legally meaningful, desirable and precendent-setting. This needs to be reflected upon with regard to the sample<sup>4</sup>. For example, only non-anonymized data were collected, as anonymization would not have been possible for the court officials due to the necessary amount of work involved. Since the documents were preferably to be analyzed in their originality (WOLFF, 2010), this circumstance is a gain in knowledge from the data. However, it became clear that the data were not always ascertained in a field assessable to social researchers and that data collection thus follows a different logic than the implementation of interviews. [24]

For logical reasons, it should thus be largely clarified before the assessment whether and how a planned sample is or is not available and which epistemological implications are involved. In the following, we address the issue of availability in more detail, both in terms of reflecting on data generation and of describing court file assessment as a path so far rarely taken in sociology. [25]

<sup>4</sup> The reference numbers of proceedings to be assessed are required in order to submit authorization requests. Such references make is possible to identify files with unique combinations of numbers and letters and are not published for all implemented court proceedings. *De facto*, access via the *Familien- und erbrechtliche Entscheidungen* collection was the only way to have a historical Austria-wide sample authorized, in which the final rulings of various instances are taken into consideration.

#### 4.2 Aspects of research practice: Data availability

The availability of court files as data is one of the most substantial issues of research practice in the juridical field. Covering the past thirty years<sup>5</sup>, these files are present on a large scale, yet they are subject to strict data protection regulations, as they contain individual-related data and are thus inaccessible to the public. In planning the assessment, it became clear that files appear to be "a concealed reality to be kept a secret (commonly and initially, from the extra-institutional world)" (MUCKEL, 2000, §17). Two obstacles are to be overcome on the way to accessing files: formal authorization and informal forms of *gatekeeping*, as detailed in the following. [26]

The data protection rules governing family law proceedings in Austria prescribe that only the given litigants, their representatives, and the administrative staff are authorized to access and copy the resp. divorce and guardianship files without a separate approval (Art. 219, Section 1, ZPO<sup>6</sup>). Third parties may only be granted access with both parties' consent (Art. 219, Section 2, ZPO). Beyond that, it is possible to apply for permission at the appropriate government department to access and copy files for scientific purposes. Therefore, there are only two possibilities for social researchers to be granted access to these individualrelated data: 1. access via the parties involved in or having concluded a proceeding, or 2. an official approval which can be granted following an access and copy application forwarded to the appropriate Austrian federal ministry (Art. 219, ZPO, Section 4 and Art. 22, AußStrG<sup>7</sup>). Apart from the fact that consent on the part of both parties in litigious proceedings is often difficult to obtain, there is also an ethical dilemma: Should only one of the two parties endorse access, then the researchers are not granted official access, but only informed consent to access the parties' files. In the event that the researchers are granted access from the ministry, then informed consent is not obtainable from the involved actors for reasons of data protection. This also explains the particular sensitivity of the data, which must be taken account of in terms of research ethics and a prudent warranty of data protection. [27]

In the present study, we chose the latter option and the Austrian Ministry of Justice was asked for and granted approval. This approach proved to be beneficial for assessing large samples—especially with historical backgrounds— whereas applying for the resp. files was only possible by indicating the precise reference numbers accessed through the collection of *Ehe- und Familienrechtliche Entscheidungen* [Marriage and Family Law Rulings]. From four time periods, and according to the most important family law reforms, we selected

6 ZPO: Zivilprozessordnung [Civil Proceedings Rules].

<sup>5</sup> According to Art. 174 of the Geschäftsordnung (GEO) für die Gerichte der I. und II. Instanz [Rules of Procedure for Courts of First and Second Instance], i.e., the authorities responsible for the first and second procedural stages), first- and second-instance litigious files are to be stored for thirty years and appeals court files for ten years. According to Art. 19 of the Oberster-Gerichtshof-Gesetz (OGHG) [Austrian Supreme Court Act], third-instance files are to be permanently reposited.

<sup>7</sup> AußStrG: Außerstreitgesetz [Non-Contentious Proceedings Act]; amongst others, this act regulates inspection into case files.

the proceedings the rulings of which made reference to custody and divorce. Sampling was guided by the minimum and maximum contrasting of the cases in the sense of theoretical sampling (GLASER & STRAUSS, 1967). On the one hand, contrasting was carried out by selecting files from different periods of family law (overall period under review: 1976 to 2019). In doing so, divorces were assessed from the period shortly after the legally based partriarchal family model was eliminated as well as two to three decades thereafter. On the other hand, theoretical sampling was implemented in the course of the analysis along the lines of various dimensions. An important criterion of contrasting was the comparison of individual examples of marital misconduct over time. For example, while violence in the form of a slap in the face was considered a justifiable reaction to insufficient alimony in marriage-and thus not as a matrimonial offense—any form of physical violence was defined as marital misconduct by the early 2000s. Moreover, the number and ages of children in need of care, the duration of marriage, and the extent of gainful activity proved to be significant dimensions of contrasting. [28]

The appropriate ministry informed us in advance that approval of the application to access and copy files chiefly depended on whether the burden caused by the amount of work would be acceptable to individual courts. For this reason, we spread the sample over several courts. As all documents pertaining to the appellate instances and bodies of a civil procedure are finally returned to the court of first instance to be archived, our sample covered 45 courts throughout Austria. We reached out to several district courts for up to five files. [29]

Basically, our assessments were to be carried out in the knowledge that in spite of a given approval, it is at the individual chief court clerks' discretion whether researchers are or are not granted access to files. We thus encountered various forms of *gatekeeping* even after approval, ranging from supportive reactions to rejection. We were granted access to the files in all cases of inquiry, yet some courts informed us unambiguously that support for our project was not within their jurisdiction, as our inquiries were considered an unwelcome additional burden to the staff. The research diaries reflect the impression of a regimented hierarchy at the Austrian courts, the organizational structure of which caused uncertainty among the inspectors responsible for access. This was particularly the case when our project team was not yet fully aware of the basic conditions of a given local assessment. [30]

The responsible staff frequently checked with their chief clerks or judges. In some cases, our experience at other courts was taken as a reference point as to whether, for instance, we were or were not entitled to make copies free of charge. Although the copying costs were clearly regulated in the approvals and would have exceeded our project budget substantially ( $\in 0.33$  per page), we finally were able to make the copies free of charge at almost all courts. In cases of uncertainty regarding the conditions of assessment in the district and state courts, we reported on the assessment at the Supreme Court, which had been concluded at the very beginning of the study. Consideration of hierarchies in the juridical field and/or between the courts proved to be a key strategy in our

assessments. As the files in our sample were spread among the archives of 45 courts of first instance, this was an important question that needed to be sorted out repeatedly. In one case, the regulations even varied between the departments of a single court. [31]

In the sense of a comprehensive, Austria-wide assessment, the sample contained a proportion of files from different federal states. Therefore, many files were dispersed among geographically remote regions across the country. Here, the director of a particularly cooperative court enabled us to have the files sent to the court at which the assessment was possible without incurring traveling expenses. In principle, all files were accessible within the legally regulated retention period (Art. 174, GEO, Art. 19, OGHG). In only one case, an official was embarrassed to have to inform us by phone that two of the three requested files had probably and unintentionally been destroyed together with other civil case files. [32]

In summary, the assessment at the courts was surprising in that the legally clearly regulated processes (e.g., costs for photocopying) allowed for an unexpected scope of discretion in practical implementations. From our perspective, such processes were frequently circumvented without complications (e.g., storage and file destruction) and were thus subject to informal *gatekeeping*. To move effectively within this hierarchy proved to be a learning process to us as researchers. It became clear that in the course of data ascertainment, and in spite of granted approval, archivists and other (often involuntarily) responsible officials stood between our team and the archived files. With FLECK, we thus share the experience that officials in (court) archives act as gatekeepers and frequently "operate the way their collective interpretation of their role suggests" (2017, p.340). [33]

# 4.3 Aspects of the unit of analysis: Legal and sociological perspectives on cases

Decisions are to be made regarding the unit of analysis starting from considerations of the gain in knowledge generated from court files and the availability of corresponding data. Based on previous research, there are principally two possibilities in this connection: to integrate one or several types of documents—such as decrees of divorce (MAZZURANA, 2018), police protocols (FOLEY, 2017), forensic expert reports (WOLFF, 2011), and instructions to witnesses (WOLFF & MÜLLER, 1995)—or to integrate complete files (DAHLVIK, 2018; FRIEDRICH & FRANZHELD, 2020; POHN-WEIDINGER, 2017). On the one hand, this decision evidently depends on the research question: For instance, whether a complete guardianship file as one single case or rather custody applications as cases are analyzed across all files in the sample will have to be decided upon in view of the research question and the speaking positions drawn upon to answer that question and expected to be identified in the documents. On the other hand, methodical deliberations on the unit of analysis are strongly linked to the availability of the individual documents: For legal reasons, and due to the

30-year retention period<sup>8</sup>, divorce files issued before 1990 must only contain the rulings. As the actual retention period practice in the courts can deviate from this specification, we were also able to assess complete files from earlier periods. In principle, we realized that it is only possible to evaluate the data by directly accessing the material, since its form, quality and quantity are only appraisable with difficulty beforehand. At any rate, it is especially important to reflect on the realization of the unit of analysis in working with little-studied data. Our study emphasized the particular suitability of case studies in examining files. Conceptual clarifications are required in dealing with what a case to be analyzed is and which place it should occupy in a case study. As was shown, these clarifications overlap in the social science and legal context, yet their meanings are not fully congruent. [34]

In the framework of a social science case study, a case may be circumscribed by two dimensions: as a case found empirically or as a case that is a theoretical construct, the data of which are collected with a specific research interest in mind (SCHWANDT & GATES, 2018). By contrast, cases and case files are referred to in legal terms when all the documents of a case (e.g., a divorce proceeding) are collected in one file. Apart from case files, there are also factual files that include all documents pertaining to a specific process (e.g., the reorganization of a department) (LEUSCHNER & HÜNEKE, 2016). [35]

Case files are organized according to the same procedures (i.e., knowledge gain via the involved actors' history starts with the lawsuit and in most cases ends with a court of final appeal ruling, at the latest. In litigious divorce proceedings, the petition for divorce is the starting point of a case file<sup>9</sup>. At the beginning of the proceeding, a possible subsequent countersuit is administrated as a case sui generis, which is only consolidated with the original lawsuit and continued in the course of the proceeding. The same applies to guardianship proceedings<sup>10</sup>. In this regard, however, our data showed that some proceedings may span entire childhoods: In one case, 17 years had passed after the guardianship authority approved of the divorce settlement in 1989 until the ruling regarding alimonies was issued in 2006 (Case 37). Cases in the legal sense are correspondingly comprehensive by way of the principle of completeness, which is linked to the control functions of files (MUCKEL, 1997). In order to bring the case file into agreement with the unit of analysis, stringent selection criteria are to be additionally identified with regard to the documents included in the text analysis. The question as to what kind of files proceedings in the legal context develop

<sup>8</sup> The retention periods for court files in Austria are regulated by Art. 174, GEO. In Germany, the retention period of files pertaining to family matters, children's rights and marital matters is defined by the *Schriftgutaufbewahrungsverordnung* (SchrAV) [Document Retention Act] and varies between five years (e.g., in matters of protection against violence) and 120 years (e.g., in separation of property). Details on the storage of the various types of files are described in the annex to the SchrAV.

<sup>9</sup> The present Austrian divorce law is unique in the German-language context in that it allows for culpability assessments in divorce, see Art. 49, *Ehegesetz* [Marriage Act] (MARSCHALL, 2012). Such assessments serve to determine the spouses' shares of culpability with regard to the breakdown of marriage.

<sup>10</sup> Due to the similarity of family law, e.g., in Germany, the layout of guardianship proceedings is applicable to other regional contexts.

into, and finally are available as data material, is preferably to be factored into planning the sample and/or the resulting unit of analysis. Moreover, this question requires openness and flexibility throughout the research process. [36]

Therefore, the logic of the legal case has an impact on which unit of analysis can be defined in the social science sense: In sociological terms, it would be sensible to define all legally available documents pertaining to a couple seeking divorce as a unit of analysis in examining a case of divorce. However, due to what is seen as a case in legal terms, this would only be possible with elaborate efforts: In divorce cases, the files contain the rulings of all instances regarding the divorce, yet not the documents of potentially associated guardianship or property division proceedings which are defined and heard as cases sui generis. We collected all documents pertaining to the divorce and guardianship proceedings in the sample from the associated instances (first-, second- and third-instance appeals). Repeatedly, the documents contained references to other proceedings of the involved actors, and it would have been possible to have other proceedings of this kind approved and assessed (e.g., injunctions, property division and falsetestimony proceedings, etc.). Still, we did without such action as the data basis proved to be far more ample than initially anticipated due to the related appeal hearings and recourses. This gave us sufficient resources to process files from various years. For the incorporated divorce proceedings, the unit of analysis in our study was thus focused on proceedings intended to clarify issues of culpability and marital dissolution. As to the guardianship proceedings in our sample, the unit of analysis was limited to singletons' (or several siblings') guardianship files. A single file in our sample thus corresponded to a single empirical unit, i.e., a single court file. [37]

After discussing the epistemological questions regarding court files, the issues of court file availability, and units of analysis arising from our research questions, we now discuss the methodical approach of our project in the following section(s). This approach can be described as a multiple case study from a praxeological, discourse-analytical perspective. We draw on prominent theoretical approaches, elaborate a novel methodical approach, and incorporate analytical questions into the methodical discussion. [38]

### 5. The Method of the Multiple Case Study: A Praxeological Discourse-Analytical Perspective

The approaches of qualitative file analysis described in Section 2 are altogether informed by praxeology or discourse analysis, upon which we draw in terms of theory. As concrete methodical debates are still rare, particularly in the German-speaking area, it is our intention to present the methodical approach of *the multiple case study from a praxeological discourse-analytical perspective* on family court files. We introduce analytical questions directed to the cases in the framework of a multiple case study: On the one hand, family court files are consulted as a production effort and thus as a representation of practices—family and law—which are interlaced within those files. On the other hand, our content-related focus is on relevant discourses. [39]

According to YIN (1984), the methodical approach by means of case studies is useful if 1. a contemporary phenomenon is to be explored, in which 2. the borderlines between that phenomenon and its context are ambiguous. In order to 3. meaningfully circumscribe case studies, collecting diverse data sources is considered to be a necessary precondition. Therefore, this approach proves particularly useful, as divorce and guardianship proceedings are contemporary phenomena, the contexts of which are located between legal and familial practices, which in turn finds its expression in utterly different data sources (e.g., witness statements, expert assessments, rulings, lawsuits) in the court files. In this regard, we do not circumscribe cases in terms of actors (e.g., those entitled to custody or willing to divorce), but rather by way of individual divorce or guardianship proceedings and the involved instances of appeal. [40]

The method of the *multiple case study* (YIN, 2018) has a crucial advantage in that it facilitates comparisons between empirically identified cases, which in a preceding step had been analytically processed as complete cases. Such comparisons are done at a second analytical level, and the individual cases are thus the evident base of the results. This also implies flexibility in terms of presenting the results, as they can more easily be described as comparisons of cases. Frequently applied with case studies, the narrative presentation of results becomes an additional option. By allowing for this second step of analysis, the narrative case studies do not stand alone once the research process is concluded and can more easily be compared. Levels of comparison must already be found in analyzing the cases and later become helpful in presenting the results. Regardless of the narrative form of the cases, the results can thus be illustrated by means of sporadic citations from the underlying cases or facilitate skim-reading and comparing the multiple case study in the sense of a question-and-answer presentation of those results (ibid.). [41]

With reference to the cases, on the one hand, it should principally be considered that divorce and guardianship files as individual cases do not draw a likeness of a reality assumed to be objective. Instead, they contain a specific perspective that various actors only produce for the purpose of divorce in court. In this sense, the court files are conceived as "institutionalized traces" (WOLFF, 2010, p.503), from which "conclusions can legitimately be drawn about the activities, intentions and considerations [...] of the organizations they represent" (ibid.). On the other hand, they are also part of the familial reality (ARNI, 2004), which in turn requires a production practice (FINCH, 2007; JURCZYK, 2014). This practice is expressed in doing and/or undoing family "which comprises the practices of neutralization and dissolution as well as the creation [of family]" (JURCZYK, 2020b, p.10). Through the individual case, law and the family are conceived as interwoven in the praxeological sense. In the sense of *doing* and *undoing*, the family is not only done and created by family members, but by institutions such as family law, courts and associated actors alike. Divorce and guardianship proceedings can also be seen as a discoursive field, as courts and documents produced in the form of files are sites of communication, at which various parties argue in order to address "claims to validity having become problematical" (HABERMAS, 1973, p.214) by means of changes in family relationships. [42]

We thus propose to consider family law documents as a production practice of doing or undoing family in the framework of a praxeologically "flat ontology" (SCHATZKI, 2016, p.30). In the framework of such an ontology, however, law is not simply the context, but a constituent of familial practices (see also JURCZYK, 2020a): In this connection, practices extend "only [over] one level" (SCHATZKI 2016, p.33) and are seen as "an open, spatiotemporally distributed aggregate of doing and speaking [...], which generates, utilizes and alters, is directed at or is inseparably connected to material arrangements" (ibid.). Material arrangements, such as family law documents and/or files, serve to angle and facilitate practices. Files gain access into court practices, in which they facilitate allocations and rulings regarding familial practices (MUCKEL, 1997). In this regard, the courts rely on the legitimacy of their rulings, while aligning their intra- and extraorganizational action with social expectations by perceiving and interpreting such expectations (ALEMANN, 2019). Files are thus assigned a key role, as they have important control functions in the institutional logic of judicature: The institutions control those involved as a "case," superiors control file managers, and supervisory instances, such as the next higher recourse courts in the stages of appeal, control the institutions (MUCKEL, 1997). The kind of familial practice that is facilitated or circumscribed, and the extent to which law conversely becomes applicable to familial practice and legitimizable, reveals itself as the area of tension realized in and becoming accessible by means of family court files. [43]

The opening paragraph of divorce suits, in which selected frameworks of marriage are described in a strongly standardized and formularized fashion, is an example of the intersection between law and familial practice. The initial passage always contains the same information:

"The parties contracted marriage on [day.month.year] at the registry office of [place], [number in the family register]. The marriage gave birth to [number of children] children by the names of [names and dates of birth]. The spouses had not concluded a marriage contract. Their last common residence was [address], for which reason the court appealed to has jurisdiction. The spouses are [nationality] citizens and [both] are [religious confession]" (Case no. 10). [44]

Here, it is shown which information of familial practice requires attribution and classification by court—which lawyers bring in beforehand—but also which aspects are not taken into consideration. For instance, only children "born in marriage" (including those of full age) are referred to, including children legitimized by their parents' subsequent marriage in Austria, yet not stepchildren, even though they may be members of the same household. In addition, only the last common residence is brought up, and the possibility of changing residences or whether one spouse had already left that residence is not addressed. At the outset, the division between gainful and reproductive work is also not related to. However, this division was subsequently mentioned in most of the divorce files in our sample whenever either of the "parties in dispute" brought this in as a matrimonial offense. Thus, a specific familial practice becomes effective at the outset of a proceeding, such as the duration of marriage or whether a marriage contract had been issued. [45]

Much additional information is inferred and administered in the course of the proceeding and is put forth by other actors. The ethnomethodologically informed focus on "suppliers' who first develop promising contributions to an ongoing proceeding" (SCHEFFER, 2015, p.225) makes it possible to incorporate further aspects of familial life as a part of family court files: Statements by and questionings of spouses seeking divorce, testimonies, and expert reports are perspectives that become a part of files and thus serve to interpret and, as it were, create familial life from various perspectives. [46]

While an analysis focused on practices is more strongly oriented towards how files are produced and the objects those files contain (SCHEFFER, 2015), the second perspective—on discourses relating to such practices—implies the specific inclusion of a contentual level, at which the claims to validity are addressed and negotiated. In investigations inspired by discourse analysis, the focus can thus be laid on the involved actors' multiperspectivity (VOGL, SCHMIDT & ZARTLER, 2019) by means of focusing on different discoursive positions and structures (FRIEDRICH & FRANZHELD, 2020; SCHWAB-TRAPP, 2006). The link between the discourse-analytical and praxeological perspectives on divorce and guardianship files makes it possible to reproduce data from such proceedings as discoursive fields with diverse power and speaking positions, as well as interpretive frames and action patterns (JÄGER, 2011; KELLER, 2011b), which altogether require various actors' collaboration in order to be generated and negotiated. [47]

Methodically, this approach serves to ask analytical questions regarding the individual cases explored in multiple case studies. Setting out from the insight that family law has a substantial impact on the social construction of relationships, while itself being formed by certain perceptions about the subjects (ZARTLER, 2012; ZARTLER & HIERZER, 2015), our analysis was focused on involved family members. The analytical questions imply that family court files are produced *by, with* and *for* family members, as is shown in the following with the example of divorce files as cases. [48]

A divorce is always formally initiated by at least one of two spouses: The first document in a divorce file is a divorce suit or petition originally based on the resp. partner's argumentations and representations and is thus *by* that partner. In the course of our analysis of divorce files, our question in terms of praxeology was: How do spouses create divorce in court? From a discourse-analytical perspective, we additionally asked: Which claims to validity are expounded by spouses filing for divorce? [49]

From this time on, the file accumulates through court injunctions and legal representatives' petitions in collaboration with the spouses (e.g., deposed interrogations or advocacy writings): It thus requires creation *with* the spouses and other family members who interact with yet other actors to perform the practice of a family in court. A family court file ultimately consists of highly diverse documents (e.g., lawsuits, rulings, expert reports) issued by various authors, thus reflecting diverse recorded speaking and producer positions. In this regard, we

asked: How is the practice of divorce carried out in court and how does such interaction develop between various actors? In discourse-analytical terms, the questions arose as to: Which actors bring in which (multiple) perspectives and which patterns of interpretation and action become visible? [50]

After a divorce proceeding is completed, the spouses receive their court ruling. This is a document that is produced *for* the actors of a family and that is intended to legally assist in reorganizing family relationships in the divorce process. Here, it becomes clear that court files are altogether compiled for a particular reason and concluded by the rulings. The praxeological question as to how divorce is produced for the actors of a given family is focused on: How are family members dismissed from the practice of family courts? In terms of discourse analysis, the following questions are particularly interesting: Who are the subjects for whom the divorce is produced in court, i.e., who is addressed here and how? Which power structures can be identified and how is the discourse embedded in those structures in court? [51]

In summary, files from divorce and guardianship proceedings are both constituents and reflections of familial practices. They should therefore be investigated with both emphases. We propose that the questions as to by, with and for whom family court files are produced set a heuristic framework in which these emphases can be included in investigating undoing family (JURCZYK, 2020a). This is because answers to these questions can comprise not only the making of the proceedings, but also ongoing discourses, speaking positions, and power structures. [52]

## 6. Conclusions

In this article, we demonstrated that the sociological approach to court files requires particular methodological and methodical specifications, while holding a considerable potential for research in the social sciences and family sociology. Our focus in this paper was on two areas as based on 70 family court files which were ascertained and analyzed from a total of 45 court archives in Austria and documented by means of research diaries and memos. [53]

*First*, we specified *three key methodological areas* in order to make them fertile for further research: *epistemological aspects*; questions in *research practice* regarding field access and ascertainment; and, on this basis, considerations regarding the *unit of analysis* of court files. We elaborated which potentials can arise from establishing court files as a data base little-tapped so far in the social sciences. From our perspective, analyses may potentially be enhanced in the frequently neglected examinations of contexts in which qualitative data are generated and which initiate particular reflection as to process-produced data, i.e., family court data in our investigation. Moreover, court files facilitate an access to a societal area which has received little social science attention and which is reflected in process-produced data. As an active text (SMITH, 2005), these data contribute to structuring everyday life. [54]

Second, we developed a *qualitative methodical approach* that accomodates the context of data production and contentual discourses of *undoing family* in data. A praxeological ontology of events and data material (SCHATZKI, 2016) offers a perspective with which institutions, such as law, judicature and associated procedures and instruments, can be incorporated in *undoing family* (JURCZYK, 2020a; LANGE, 2020). In conjunction with a discourse-analytical perspective (KELLER, 2011a), the multiperspectivity we argue to be a particular potential court files offer to family research can be described (see also FRIEDRICH & FRANZHELD, 2020). [55]

Family members and other actors are connected to these active texts in that court files are produced *by, with* and *for* them. They thus are the immanent constituents and at once producers of those files. A methodical approach in the framework of the *multiple case study from a praxeological discourse-analytical perspective* can combine two necessarily overlapping analytical foci on practice and discourse. This approach can also account for the analytical tension between the overall composition of court files and the discourse positions they contain. [56]

The method we propose to analyze court files is only one possible methodicaltheoretical variant. The perspective of theory is purposely intended to supplement the multiple case study. Moreover, court files as data material hold much methodical potential that can and should be differentiated with the ongoing variation and combination of theoretical perspectives. In this connection, we advocate methodological hybridization (FLICK, 2005), which includes a pragmatic approach to methodological principles and methods: Severe confinements to a specific methodological discourse are avoided and methods are usefully integrated wherever possible (ibid.), such as in our combined praxeological and discourse-analytical approach. In future research, additional gains in knowledge may possibly arise from increasingly including a neo-institutionalist perspective (WALGENBACH, 2002) on legal practice in the context of social changes of the family. This is because the view onto the relationship between powerful judicial actors' intra- and extra-organizational action and out-of-court social expectations could be deepened. Moreover, clear potential has been identified in reconstructive organizational research (VOGD, 2009), with which the focus could more strongly be laid on the orientation of meaning among various professions (e.g., psychological reviewers) who affect decisions in family law and whose practices are reflected in court files. As these files develop on the basis of the legal situation currently in force, and as the data produced in this framework are marked by institutional variance, changes in proceedings could become a specific focus. For example, family court assistance-support for judges' work by means of assessments or mediation of welfare workers, psychologists and educationalists—was introduced in Austria in 2014. From our perspective, methodological flexibility becomes relevant precisely where the potential of novel methodologies, such as those pertaining to court files as data, is to be further developed. [57]

Court files provide detailed insights into constructions of familial practices and discourses, as well as the normative ways in which such constructions are dealt

with. They thus hold the enormous potential to serve describe historical, normative and social processes of change starting from individual practices (and the traces they leave). In this regard, such access to historical discourses and practices is unique: Snapshots from various decades can be analyzed, which reflect both legal and societal sets of norms. From the perspective of the sociology of the family, they also facilitate insights into familial practices that are subject to social desirability in reactive data material, such as intended distancing and denial of relationships. Furthermore, court files allow for the perspectives of often large numbers of different actors, which would barely be feasible with other types of data collection or which could only elaborately be incorporated in empirical assessments. In order to adequately capture these perspectives, interdisciplinary cooperation in terms of assessment and analysis has proven to be an advisable strategy that leads the inherent logics of the fields to be reflected upon. From our perspective, this data material and the associated potentials of analysis should be further developed in both methodological and methodical terms. [58]

#### References

Ackel-Eisnach, Kristina & Müller, Caroline (2012). Perspektiven-, Methoden- und Datentriangulation bei der Evaluation einer kommunalen Bildungslandschaft. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *13*(3), Art. 5, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-13.3.1720</u> [Accessed: December 16, 2020].

Alemann, Anette von (2019). Deutungsmuster und Macht: Theoretisch-konzeptionelle Überlegungen zu einem vernachlässigten Zusammenhang. In Nicole Bögelein & Nicole Vetter (Eds.), *Der Deutungsmusteransatz. Einführung – Erkenntnisse – Perspektiven* (pp.263-292). Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.

Arni, Caroline (2004). Entzweiungen: die Krise der Ehe um 1900. Köln: Böhlau.

Bär, Gesine (2000). Mit Andern eine Grube graben. Projektorganisation und Fakten-Schaffen auf der Großbaustelle "Regionalbahnhof Potsdamer Platz". *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 1*(1), Art. 23, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-1.1.1133</u> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Breuer, Franz; Muckel, Petra & Dieris, Barbara (2019). *Reflexive Grounded Theory: Eine Einführung für die Forschungspraxis.* Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Campbell, L. Marie (2016). Intersectionality, policy-oriented research and the social relations of knowing. *Gender, Work, and Organization*, *23*(3), 248-260.

Cloatre, Emilie & Cowan, Dave (2019). Legalities and materialities. In Andreas Philippopoulos-Mihalopoulos (Ed.), *Routledge handbook of law and theory* (pp.433-452). London: Routledge.

Dahlvik, Julia (2014). Administering asylum applications. *Dissertation*, sociology, University of Vienna, Austria.

Dahlvik, Julia (2016). Asylanträge verwalten und entscheiden: der soziologische Blick auf Verborgenes. Eine Forschungsnotiz. *Österreichische Zeitschrift für Soziologie*, *41*, 191-205. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11614-016-0226-6</u> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Dahlvik, Julia (2018). *Inside asylum bureaucracy: Organizing refugee status determination in Austria.* Wiesbaden: Springer, <u>https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007%2F978-3-319-63306-0</u> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Doll, Agnieszka & Walby, Kevin (2019). Institutional ethnography as a method of inquiry for criminal justice and socio-legal studies. *International Journal for Crime, Justice and Social Democracy*, *8*(1), 147-160.

Dreyfuß, Hubert L. & Rabinow, Paul (1994 [1982]). *Michel Foucault: jenseits von Strukturalismus und Hermeneutik.* Weinheim: Beltz, Athenäum.

Finch, Janet (2007). Displaying families. Sociology, 41(1), 65-81.

Fleck, Christian (2017). Grundlagen der Archivrecherche in der Soziologiegeschichte. In Stephan Moebius & Andrea Ploder (Eds.), *Handbuch Geschichte der deutschsprachigen Soziologie. Band 2: Forschungsdesign, Theorien und Methoden* (pp.329-350). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Flick, Uwe (2005). Qualitative research in sociology in Germany and the US—State of the art, differences and developments. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 6(3), Art. 23, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-6.3.17</u> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Floßmann, Ursula (2008). Österreichische Privatrechtsgeschichte. Wien: Springer.

Foley, Sheila J. (2017). A qualitative study defining and interpreting behaviors: Characteristics of 21st century female juvenile violence. *Dissertation*, management, Northcentral University, Scottsdale, AZ, USA.

Friedrich, Karl & Franzheld, Tobias (2020). Fallrekonstruktive Familienforschung auf der Grundlage einer Jugendamtsakte. In Dorett Funcke (Ed.), *Rekonstruktive Paar- und Familienforschung* (pp.291-313). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Froschauer, Ulrike (2009). Artefaktanalyse. In Stefan Kühl, Petra Strodtholz & Andreas Taffertshofer (Eds.), *Handbuch Methoden der Organisationsforschung* (pp.326-347). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Funcke, Dorett (Hrsg.) (2020). *Rekonstruktive Paar- und Familienforschung*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Gitschthaler, Edwin (2020). 3497 Rechtssätze des Jahres 2019 (Vol.56). Wien: Manz.

<u>Glaser, Barney</u> & Strauss, Anselm (1967). *The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. New York, NY: Aldine de Gruyter.

Habermas, Jürgen (1973). Wahrheitstheorien. In Helmut Fahrenbach (Ed.), *Wirklichkeit und Reflexion. Walter Schulz zum 60. Geburtstag* (pp.211-265). Pfullingen: Neske.

Hildenbrand, Bruno (2005). *Fallrekonstruktive Familienforschung: Anleitungen für die Praxis*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Hillebrandt, Frank (2015). Was ist der Gegenstand einer Soziologie der Praxis?. In Anna Daniel, Frank Hillebrandt & Franka Schäfer (Eds.), *Methoden einer Soziologie der Praxis* (pp.15-37). Bielefeld: transcript.

Hoffmann, Nicole (2018). *Dokumentenanalyse in der Bildungs- und Sozialforschung. Überblick und Einführung.* Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.

Hoffmann-Riem, Christa (1980). Die Sozialforschung einer interpretativen Soziologie. Der Datengewinn. Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 32, 339-372.

Jäger, Siegfried (2011). Diskurs und Wissen. Theoretische und methodische Aspekte einer kritischen Diskurs- und Dispositivanalyse. In <u>Reiner Keller</u>, Andreas Hirseland, Werner Schneider & Willy Viehöver (Eds.), *Handbuch Sozialwissenschaftliche Diskursanalyse* (pp.91-124). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Jurczyk, Karin (2014). Doing Family – der Practical Turn in den Familienwissenschaften. In Anja Steinbach, Marina Hennig & Oliver Arránz Becker (Eds.), *Familie im Fokus der Wissenschaft* (pp.117-138). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Jurczyk, Karin (2020a). UnDoing Family. Zentrale konzeptionelle Annahmen, Feinjustierungen und Erweiterungen. In Karin Jurczyk (Ed.), *Doing und Undoing Family. Konzeptionelle und empirische Entwicklungen* (pp.26-46). Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.

Jurczyk, Karin (2020b). Einführung. In Karin Jurczyk (Ed.), *Doing und Undoing Family. Konzeptionelle und empirische Entwicklungen* (pp.7-25). Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.

Keller, Reiner (2011a). *Wissenssoziologische Diskursanalyse: Grundlegung eines Forschungsprogramms*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Keller, Reiner (2011b). Wissenssoziologische Diskursanalyse. In Reiner Keller, Andreas Hirseland, Werner Schneider & Willy Viehöver (Eds.), *Handbuch Sozialwissenschaftliche Diskursanalyse: Vol.1: Theorien und Methoden* (pp.125-158). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Koch, Martina; Piñeiro, Esteban & Pasche, Nathalie (2019). "Wir sind ein Dienst, keine Behörde." Multiple institutionelle Logiken in einem Schweizer Jugendamt – Ein ethnografisches Fallbeispiel aus der street-level bureaucracy. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *20*(2), Art. 21, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.2.3045</u> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Lamnek, Siegfried & Krell, Claudia (2016). Qualitative Sozialforschung. Weinheim: Beltz.

Lange, Andreas (2020). Das Tun und Lassen in Familien analysieren: Praxissoziologie und Lebensführung als Impulse des Undoing Family Ansatzes. In Karin Jurczyk (Ed.), *Doing und Undoing Family. Konzeptionelle und empirische Entwicklungen* (pp.78-98). Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.

Latour, Bruno (2008). Reassembling the social. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Lehmann, Robert & Klug, Wolfgang (2019). Die prozessorientierte Aktenanalyse. In Maik-Carsten Begemann & Klaus Birkelbach (Eds.), *Forschungsdaten für die Kinder- und Jugendhilfe: Qualitative und quantitative Sekundäranalysen* (pp.301-319). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Leuschner, Fredericke & Hüneke, Arnd (2016). Möglichkeiten und Grenzen der Aktenanalyse als zentrale Methode der empirisch-kriminologischen Forschung. *Monatsschrift für Kriminologie und Strafrechtsreform*, 99(6), 464-480.

Lueger, Manfred (2010). Interpretative Sozialforschung. Die Methoden. Wien: Facultas.

Lueger, Manfred & Froschauer, Ulrike (2018). *Artefaktanalyse. Grundlagen und Verfahren*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Marschall, Norbert (2012). Das Verschuldensprinzip im heutigen österreichischen Ehescheidungsrecht. *Beiträge zur Rechtsgeschichte Österreichs*, *1*, 219-232, <u>https://doi.org/10.1553/BRGOE2012-1s219</u> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

<u>Mayring, Philipp</u> (2016). *Einführung in die qualitative Sozialforschung: eine Anleitung zu qualitativem Denken.* Weinheim: Beltz.

Mazzurana, Thomas (2018). Über die Rechtfertigung der Scheidung. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Muckel, Petra (1997). Der Alltag mit Akten – psychologische Rekonstruktionen bürokratischer Phänomene. Eine empirische Untersuchung in verschiedenen Institutionen auf der Grundlage der Grounded Theory. Aachen: Shaker, <u>https://reflexivegroundedtheory.wordpress.com/empirischearbeiten/</u> [Accessed: May 12, 2021].

Muckel, Petra (2000). Methodische Reflexionen zur Forschung in Institutionen – Phänomenspiegelungen als Erkenntnisinstrument. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *1*(2), Art. 22, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-1.2.1091</u> [Accessed: December 16, 2020].

Noetzel, Thomas; Krumm, Thomas & Westle, Bettina (2018). Dokumentenanalyse. In Bettina Westle (Ed.), *Methoden der Politikwissenschaft* (pp.370-382). Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Owens, B. Robert & Ford, Laura (2019). Judicial social theorizing and Its relation to sociology. *Qualitative Sociology*, *42*(2), 229-249.

Pohn-Weidinger, Axel (2017). Akten und Fakten: Zur Konstruktion von Beweisen im Kontakt zwischen BürgerInnen und Behörden. Österreichische Zeitschrift für Soziologie, 42(3), 281-299.

Salheiser, Axel (2019). Natürliche Daten: Dokumente. In Nina Baur & Jörg Blasius (Eds.), Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung (pp.1119-1134). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Schäfer, Franka, & Daniel, Anna (2015). Zur Notwendigkeit einer praxissoziologischen Methodendiskussion. In Anna Daniel, Frank Hillebrandt & Franka Schäfer (Eds.), *Methoden einer Soziologie der Praxis* (pp.37-55). Bielefeld: transcript.

Schatzki, Theodore R. (2002). *The site of the social: A philosophical account of the constitution of social life and change*. University Park, PA: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Schatzki, Theodore R. (2016). Praxistheorie als flache Ontologie. In Hilmar Schaefer (Ed.), *Praxistheorie. Ein soziologisches Forschungsprogramm* (pp.29-44). Bielefeld: transcript, <u>https://doi.org/10.14361/9783839424049-002</u> [Accessed: July 1, 2021].

Scheffer, Thomas (2001). *Asylgewährung. Eine ethnographische Analyse des deutschen Asylverfahrens*. Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

Scheffer, Thomas (2007). File work, legal care, and professional habitus an ethnographic reflection on different styles of advocacy. *International Journal of the Legal Profession*, *14*(1), 57-80.

Scheffer, Thomas (2010). Adversarial case-making: An ethnography of English crown court procedure. Leiden: Brill.

Scheffer, Thomas (2015). Diskurspraxis in Recht und Politik. Trans-Sequentialität und die Analyse rechtsförmiger Verfahren. Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie, 35(2), 223-244.

Scheffer, Thomas (2018). Spielarten der Trans-Sequentialität. Zur Gegenwartsdiagnostik gesellschaftlicher Problembearbeitungskapazitäten entwickelt aus Ethnographien staatlicher

Verfahren. In Sebastian Gießmann, Tobias Röhl & Ronja Trischler (Eds.), *Materialität der Kooperation* (pp.331-357). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Scheiwe, Kirsten (2018). Familie und Elternschaft in Recht und Soziologie – über den Nutzen der Soziologie für die Familienrechtswissenschaft. *Neue Zeitschrift für Familienrecht*, 7, 312-316.

Schutter, Sabina (2011). "Richtige" Kinder. Von heimlichen und folgenlosen Vaterschaftstests. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Schwab, Dieter (2016). Fragen zwischen Sozial- und Rechtswissenschaften bei familienbezogener Forschung – aus rechtswissenschaftlicher Sicht. *Zeitschrift für Familienforschung*, *28*(2), 208-220, <u>https://doi.org/10.3224/zff.v28i2.5</u> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Schwab-Trapp, Michael (2006). Diskurs als soziologisches Konzept. Bausteine für eine soziologisch orientierte Diskursanalyse. In Reiner Keller, Andreas Hirseland, Werner Schneider & Willy Viehöver (Eds.), *Handbuch Sozialwissenschaftliche Diskursanalyse, Bd.1: Theorien und Methoden* (pp.283-308). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Schwandt, Thomas A. & Gates, Emily F. (2018). Case study methodology. In <u>Norman K. Denzin &</u> Yvonna S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (pp.341-358). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Shuy, W. Roger (2015). Discourse analysis in the legal context. In Deborah Schiffrin, Deborah Tannen & Heidi E. Hamilton (Eds.), *The handbook of discourse analysis* (pp.822-840). Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.

Skarpelis, K.M. Anna (2020). Life on file: Archival epistemology and theory. *Qualitative Sociology*, *43*, 385-405.

Smith, Dorothy (2005). *Institutional ethnography: A sociology for people*. Lanham, MD: Altamira Press.

Taeger, Angela (2002). Aktenanalyse in der kriminologisch-geschichtswissenschaftlichen Forschung zum Strafrecht. Polizeiliche Aufzeichnungen über männliche Homosexuelle im Paris des 18. Jahrhunderts. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *3*(1), Art. 19, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fgs-3.1.883</u> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Taylor, A. Carol & Fairchild, Nikki (2020). Towards a posthumanist institutional ethnography: Viscous matterings and gendered bodies. *Ethnography and Education*, *15*(4), 509-527.

Tolasch, Eva (2016). Die protokollierte gute Mutter in Kindstötungsakten. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Vaskovics, Laszlo A. & Huinink, Johannes (2016). Werden die Regelungen des Familienrechts heutigen Familien und Kindern gerecht? Reflexionen aus sozialwissenschaftlicher Perspektive. *Zeitschrift für Familienforschung*, *28*(2), 212-244, <u>https://doi.org/10.3224/zff.v28i2.6</u> [Accessed: July 21, 2021].

Vismann, Cornelia (2011). In judicio stare: The cultural technology of the law. *Law & Literature*, 23(3), 309-323.

Vogd, Werner (2009). *Rekonstruktive Organisationsforschung. Qualitative Methodologie und theoretische Integration – Eine Einführung.* Leverkusen: Barbara Budrich.

Vogl, Susanne; Schmidt, Eva-Maria & Zartler, Ulrike (2019). Triangulating perspectives: Ontology and epistemology in the analysis of qualitative multiple perspective interviews. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 22(6), 611-624, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2019.1630901</u> [Accessed: July 21, 2021]

Walgenbach, Peter (2002). Neoinstitutionalistische Organisationstheorie – State of the Art und Entwicklungslinien. In Georg Schreyögg & Peter Conrad (Eds.), *Theorien des Managements* (pp.155-202). Wiesbaden: Gabler.

Werner, Melanie (2020). Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse und historische Forschung. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *21*(1), Art. 13, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-21.1.3419</u> [Accessed: June 23, 2021].

Wolff, Stephan (2010). Dokumenten und Aktenanalyse. In Uwe Flick, Ernst von Kardorff & Ines Steinke (Eds.), *Qualitative Forschung. Ein Handbuch* (pp.503-513). Reinbek: Rowohlt.

Wolff, Stephan (2011). *Text und Schuld: Die Rhetorik psychiatrischer Gerichtsgutachten*. Berlin: De Gruyter.

Wolff, Stephan & Müller, Hermann (1995). "Sie sind hier bei Gericht" – Zeugenbelehrungen in Strafprozessen. *Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie*, *16*(2), 192-220.

Wolff, Stephan & Salomon, René (2019). "Wenn Ihnen der liebe Gott zwei Zehntelsekunden oder das 'Mhm' schenken würde, dann könnten Sie die Welt verändern" Stephan Wolff im Gespräch mit René Salomon. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *20*(2), Art. 12, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.2.3285</u> [Accessed: December 16, 2021].

Yin, Robert K. (1984). Case study research. Design and methods. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Yin, Robert K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Zartler, Ulrike (2012). Das Familienbild des ABGB und die Lebenssituation von Scheidungs- und Nachscheidungsfamilien. *Beiträge zur Rechtsgeschichte Österreichs*, *1*, 44-54, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1553/BRGOE2012-1s44</u> [Accessed: June 23, 2021].

Zartler, Ulrike & Hierzer, Jana (2015). Efforts to cut the Gordian knot. A sociological analysis regarding legal aspects of post-divorce parental responsibility. *Zeitschrift für Familienforschung*, *10*(Special Issue), 219-237.

#### Authors

*Viktoria PARISOT*, MA, is a research associate and teacher with the Department of Sociology, University of Vienna. She is currently a scholarship holder with the Austrian Academy of Sciences (DOC team). Her focus is on family sociology, in which she is currently involved in qualitative research in separation, divorce and post-divorce families.

Marlies ZUCCATO-DOUTLIK, Lic., MA, has been a research associate and teacher with the Department of Sociology, University of Vienna, since 2017 and a scholarship holder with the Austrian Academy of Sciences (DOC team) since 2019. In her research she currently focuses on divorce, children's welfare, and parenting in the discourse surrounding guardianship proceedings. In methodical terms, she is interested in both participatory research with children and the relevance of documents from family court proceedings to family sociology.

*Ulrike ZARTLER*, MSSc, PhD, is an associate professor of family sociology at the Department of Sociology, University of Vienna. Her research interests are in the sociology of the family, childhood and youth; life course transitions, divorce and post-divorce families; media in families; online civil courage among adolescents; and everyday family life during the corona pandemic.

### Citation

Contact:

Viktoria Parisot

University of Vienna Department of Sociology Rooseveltplatz 2, Vienna A-1090, Austria

E-mail: <u>viktoria.parisot@univie.ac.at</u> URL: <u>https://www.soz.univie.ac.at/viktoria-</u> <u>parisot</u>

Contact:

Marlies Zuccato-Doutlik

University of Vienna Department of Sociology Rooseveltplatz 2, Vienna A-1090, Austria

E-mail: <u>marlies.zuccato-doutlik@univie.ac.at</u> URL: <u>https://www.soz.univie.ac.at/marlies-</u> <u>zuccato</u>

Contact:

Ulrike Zartler

University of Vienna Department of Sociology Rooseveltplatz 2, Vienna A-1090, Austria

E-mail: <u>ulrike.zartler@univie.ac.at</u> URL: <u>http://www.soz.univie.ac.at/ulrike-zartler/</u>

Parisot, Viktoria; Zuccato-Doutlik, Marlies & Zartler, Ulrike (2021). Court files as data in sociological family research: Methodology and methods for a little-tapped kind of data material [58 paragraphs]. *Forum Qualitative Socialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 22(3), Art. 9, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.3.3649.